ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenville County

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
AUG 25 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

EMMANUEL M. RODRIGUEZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001956  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. PACHAK  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to suppress heroin found in appellant's luggage because the police acted on an anonymous tip that lacked sufficient indicia of reliability to establish reasonable suspicion for a Terry investigatory stop?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of trafficking in heroin after a jury trial held before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson on September 8 – 10, 2014, in Greenville County. A forty (40) year sentence was imposed along with a \$200,000 fine. John Crangle, Esquire was trial counsel. Ryan Holloway, Esquire, was the assistant solicitor.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to suppress heroin found in appellant's luggage because the police acted on an anonymous tip that lacked sufficient indicia of reliability to establish reasonable suspicion for a Terry investigatory stop.

Trooper Rogers (Rogers) with the South Carolina Highway Patrol testified at the suppression hearing that on April 17, 2013, they received information from the Drug Enforcement Agency (D.E.A.) that there was a "possible" load of heroin that would be coming northbound on the La Cubana, a passenger bus line. They knew the bus line made a regular stop at a location on White Horse Road. It was a scheduled stop. They were not given the subject's name. They only knew it would be a light-skinned, "possibly" black male. They went to the scheduled stop site about 15 minutes before the bus would arrive. Rogers and his corporal were there along with Lance Corporal Harrison. They had two unmarked vehicles and Corporal Dowis had a K-nine vehicle. (R. p. 4, line 7 – p. 5, line 24.)

While in the parking lot, the bus arrived. Rogers approached as the driver was exiting down the steps. (R. p. 5, line 25 – p. 6, line 4.) He asked the driver if there were any problems with any of the passengers on this particular trip. The driver said everything was okay. Corporal Dowis, the K-nine officer, was walking toward the bus. The K-nine shepherd was still secured in the vehicle. (R. p. 7, line 19 – p. 8, line 19.) Rogers told the driver that drug traffickers would use passenger bus lines as a means of transporting drugs. He asked the driver if he had a problem while he conducted his business because it was their policy even in a consensual encounter – he still had to document with what in this case would have been a "warning ticket." (emphasis supplied.) This testimony highlights the questionable nature of the search. The bus was packed and the driver had done nothing to be warned about. For some reason, invalid searches seem to commence with a

“warning” ticket, e.g. State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 544 S.E.2d 290 (Ct. App. 2001.) He then asked the driver if it would be a problem for Corporal Dowis to go around the exterior of the bus. The driver told him it was not a problem. (R. p. 9, lines 3-25.) At that time, Corporal Dowis went back to his car to get the K-nine and walked him around the exterior of the bus. Rogers said there were between 20-25 passengers on the bus. None of the passengers were trying to exit. (R. p. 10, line 7 – p. 11, line 5.)

The K-nine alerted to the “possible presence of an illegal odor coming from the stowaway compartment. Rogers said because there was a K-nine alert, they would have all the passengers identify their luggage. He had the bus driver go in the bus and explain to all the passengers that everybody would “have” to come out of the bus and they would be asked if they had luggage. (R. p. 12, lines 4-24.) In spite of this, he said “They had free range to do what they pleased,” (R. p. 13, line 1), but they were never told this. As the police “had” the passengers exit, they would “have” them claim their luggage in “designated” spots in the parking lot. As the passengers came out they were asked if they had luggage. If they did, they were asked to present their claim ticket. (R. p. 14, lines 16-25.)

Appellant was the eighteenth passenger that had come off the bus. He presented a claim ticket and retrieved his luggage. (R. p.15, lines 7-22.) Corporal Dowis was not there. Rogers said this was his encounter just as a “traffic stop.” (R. p. 17, lines 11 – p. 23, line 10.) Rogers said there was a definite level of uncomfortable tension as he was asking appellant questions and he was giving his answers. Appellant clutched his luggage and did not want to let go of it. (R. p. 20, lines 19 – 23.) Appellant was asked to move away from the group. (R. p. 21, lines 10-11.) Rogers said they retrieved the luggage. (R. p. 21, lines 22-23.) He asked appellant for consent to search and he

told them to go ahead. (R. p. 22, lines 6-7.) With a screwdriver and a knife, Rogers was able to retrieve a black package and appellant was placed under arrest. (R. p. 23, lines 16-22.)

On cross-examination, Rogers was asked who or what was the source of the tip. He said the tip was told to the D.E.A. He did not know how the D.E.A. got the information. He knew nothing more about the source of the tip. (R. p. 26, line 24 – p. 27, line 17.) He said it was himself and three other officers at the scene and the K-nine. Two of their cars were unmarked Crown Victorias. A third car was semi-marked with a light bar, stripes, and “State Trooper” on the vehicle. He said they would not have been at the station that night but for the tip. It was not a random encounter with the bus. All of the officers were in uniform. (R. p. 29, line 2 – p. 30, line 17.) Rogers said appellant did not come off the bus until 40 minutes after it was stopped. He admitted appellant was Hispanic and not a light-skinned, black male. He said to his recollection there were not many light-skinned black males on the bus. (R. p. 35, line 11 – p. 36, line 1.)

Defense counsel moved to suppress the heroin found in the luggage because of the illegal seizure and resulting search. None of the passengers were told they were free to leave or that they could refuse a search. (R. p. 46, line 16 – p. 47, line 10.) This Terry stop was a seizure. No reasonable passenger would feel free to leave and none tried to leave. The bus was seized with all of the passengers inside. There was no reliability shown of the anonymous tip and who gave it to the D.E.A. The burden was on the State to prove that the information supplied to the D.E.A. was reliable and credible. The State did not meet that burden. The State did not prove they had a reasonable suspicion to do what they did. (R. p. 48, line 3 – p. 54, line 8.)

The trial court denied the motion to suppress. It found that law enforcement did not stop the bus! The bus stopped on its own. The bus driver gave consent to search the luggage area. The trial court realized none of the passengers left the bus but said they were not held there against their will.

(R. p. 66, line 14 – p. 67, line 25.) That ruling was in error and was based on an incorrect premise of the law.

In Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968), the Supreme Court of the United States held that the police may make a brief investigatory stop if they observe unusual conduct, that leads to a reasonable suspicion that criminal activity may be afoot and they are able to point to specific and articulable facts to justify their suspicion.

In Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 120 S.Ct. 1375 (2000), the Court applied a Terry stop situation to a case involving an anonymous tip. In J.L., an anonymous caller reported to the Miami Dade Police that a young black male standing at a particular bus stop and wearing a plaid shirt was carrying a gun. Two officers later responded to the bus stop and saw three black males. One of the three, J.L., was wearing a plaid shirt. Apart from the tip, the officers had no reason to suspect any illegal conduct. They did not see a firearm and J.L. did not make a threatening or unusual movement. One of the officers told J.L. to put his arms up. He was then frisked and a gun was found in his pocket. 529 U.S. at 268, 120 S.Ct. at 1377.

The Court observed the following:

In the instant case, the officers' suspicion that J.L. was carrying a weapon arose not from any observations of their own but solely from a call made from an unknown location by an unknown caller. Unlike a tip from a known informant whose reputation can be assessed and who can be held responsible if her allegations turn out to be fabricated, see *Adams v. Williams*, 407 S.S. 143, 146-147, 92 S.Ct. 1921, 32 L.Ed.2d 612 (1972), "an anonymous tip alone seldom demonstrates the informant's basis of knowledge or veracity," *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. at 329, 110 S.Ct. 2412. As we have recognized, however, there are situations in which an anonymous tip suitably corroborated, exhibits "sufficient indicia of reliability to provide reasonable suspicions to make the investigatory stop." *Id.*, at 327, 110 S.Ct. 2412. The question we here confront is whether the tip pointing to J.L. had those indicia of reliability.

\*\*\*

The tip in the instant case lacked the moderate indicia of reliability present in *White* and essential to the Court's decision in that case. The anonymous call concerning J.L. provided no predictive information and therefore left the police without means to test the informant's knowledge or credibility. That the allegation about the gun turned out to be correct does not suggest that the officers prior to the frisks, had a reasonable basis for suspecting J.L. of engaging in unlawful conduct: The reasonableness of official suspicion must be measured by what the officers knew (before) they conducted their search. All the police had to go on in this case was the bare report of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he knew about the gun nor supplied any basis for believing he had inside information about J.L. If *White* was a close case on the reliability of anonymous tips, this one surely falls on the other side of the line. 529 U.S. at 270-271, 120 S.Ct. at 1378-1379.

\*\*\*

An accurate description of a subject's readily observable location and appearance is of course reliable in this limited sense: It will help the police correctly identify the person whom the tipster means to accuse. Such a tip, however, does not show that the tipster has knowledge of concealed criminal activity. The reasonable suspicion here at issue requires that a tip be reliable in its assertion of illegality, not just in its tendency to identify a determinate person. 529 U.S. at 272, 120 S.Ct. at 1379.

In the present case the police did not even have an accurate description of the suspect. There was nothing to show the reliability of the scant information passed along by the D.E.A. or the reliability of the person who gave the information to the D.E.A. The fruits of the search do not justify the initial seizure of appellant and the bus occupants. In Smith v. Ohio, 494 U.S. 451, 543, 110 S.Ct. 1288, 1290 (1990), the Court wrote:

That reasoning, however, "justify[ing] ... the search by the arrest," just "will not do." *Johnson v. United States*, 333 U.S. 10, 16-17, 68 S.Ct. 367, 370, 92 L.Ed. 436 (1948). As we have had occasion in the past to observe, "[i]t is axiomatic that an incident search may not precede an arrest and serve as part of its justification." *Sibron v. New York*, 392 U.S. 40, 63, 88 S.Ct. 1889, 1902, 20 L.Ed.2d 917 (1968); see also *Henry v. United States*, 361 U.S. 98, 102, 80 S.Ct. 168, 171, 4 L.Ed.2d 134 (1959); *Rawlings v. Kentucky*, 448 U.S. 98, 111, n. 6, 100 S.Ct. 2556, 2564, n. 6, 65 L.Ed.2d 633 (1980).