ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001956

---

RECEIVED

AUG 20 2015

Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

EMMANUEL MARQUEZ RODRIGUEZ,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the heroin discovered in his luggage at a bus stop because the officers validly obtained consent to conduct a sniff search of the passenger bus Appellant was travelling on during a consensual encounter with the bus's driver at a scheduled stop for the bus, developed a probable cause basis to believe drugs were present on the bus after a drug-detection dog alerted on the bus's luggage compartment, and validly obtained consent from Appellant to search his luggage after Appellant exited the bus following the drug-detection dog's alert.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in refusing to grant his motion to suppress the heroin found hidden in his luggage at a bus stop. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains he and the other passengers on the bus were unconstitutionally seized by law enforcement officers who allegedly had no reasonable grounds to detain them. As a result, Appellant maintains his heroin, which was discovered after he provided consent to search his luggage following the allegedly illegal seizure, was inadmissible and should have been suppressed during trial. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, the law enforcement officers involved in Appellant's case did not seize Appellant and the other passengers on the bus when they approached the driver, engaged in a consensual encounter with him, and validly obtained consent from him to conduct a sniff search of the bus using a drug-detection dog. Likewise, the officers did not seize Appellant and the others by having everyone exit the bus and identify their luggage after the drug-detection dog alerted to the presence of drugs during the sniff search, and, even if they did, that seizure was fully justified in light of the fact the drug-detection dog's alert provided the officers with a particularized and objective basis to believe criminal activity was afoot at the bus stop. Thereafter, Appellant voluntarily consented to a search of his luggage, and that consent led to the valid discovery of his hidden heroin. For those reasons, the officers' discovery of Appellant's drugs was entirely proper and did not

violate Appellant's constitutional rights, and the trial judge correctly denied Appellant's suppression motion. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence in the record to support the ruling. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005). Critically, the appellate court will **not** reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

### **ANALYSIS**

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. The purpose of the Fourth Amendment is “to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals.” United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 554 (1976). However, it is

**not** designed “to eliminate all contact between the police and the citizenry[.]” United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 553-554 (1980). Importantly, the ultimate test for evaluating contact between law enforcement officers and citizens under the Fourth Amendment is whether that contact is reasonable. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”); see also Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, an individual’s constitutional rights are not infringed by an encounter with a law enforcement officer **unless** the individual is seized or detained by the officer and the officer does not possess reasonable, objective grounds for effectuating the seizure. Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 497-498 (1983). Critically, “a seizure does not occur simply because a police officer approaches an individual and asks a few questions.” Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). Likewise, an officer does not effectuate a seizure merely by identifying himself or herself to an individual as a law enforcement officer. Royer, 460 U.S. at 497. Instead, a seizure occurs “[o]nly when [an] officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen[.]” Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16, n. 16 (1968). As a result, a law enforcement officer generally may approach a citizen in an effort to speak with or question that person without implicating the Fourth Amendment and without effectuating a seizure so long as a reasonable person under the same circumstances as the citizen would feel free to disregard the officer and leave if he or she chooses to do so. Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434.

Significantly, in United States v. Drayton, 536 U.S. 194, 199 (2002), Drayton and another man were travelling on a passenger bus while transporting a large quantity of

cocaine underneath their clothing. After the bus made a scheduled stop, three uniformed and armed police officers boarded the bus with the permission of the driver. Id. at 197. Thereafter, with one officer positioned at the rear of the bus and another officer positioned at the front of the bus near the exit, the third officer walked down the aisle and spoke with the passengers on the bus about their travel plans and luggage. Id. at 198. As he was doing so, the officer encountered Drayton and his associate, became suspicious of the two men due to the fact they were wearing heavy clothing in warm weather, and asked them if they minded if he searched their persons. Id. at 199. Both men then granted consent, and the officer ultimately discovered their hidden cocaine during his search. Id. at 199. Subsequently, Drayton and the other men sought the suppression of the cocaine as the product of an allegedly illegal seizure and search, and the United States Supreme Court ultimately granted certiorari in their cases after the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed their convictions and determined they were entitled to suppression of the evidence. Id. at 199-200. On certiorari, the Supreme Court reversed. Id. at 200. In reversing, the Supreme Court explained law enforcement officers can approach an individual, ask questions, ask for identification, and ask for permission to search luggage without violating the individual's constitutional rights so long as a reasonable innocent person in the same situation would feel free to terminate the encounter. Id. at 201-202. With that rule in mind, the Supreme Court determined the officers did **not** seize Drayton and his associate because they did not do anything to convey to Drayton, his associate, or the other passengers on the bus they were required to answer their questions. Id. at 203. Specifically, the Supreme Court instructed:

There was no application of force, no intimidating movement, no overwhelming show of force, no brandishing of weapons, no blocking of exits, no threat, no command, not even an authoritative tone of voice. It is

beyond question that had this encounter occurred on the street, it would be constitutional. The fact that an encounter takes place of a bus does not on its own transform standard police questioning of citizens into an illegal seizure.

Id. at 204. Furthermore, the Supreme Court determined the facts the officers were armed and in uniform, one of the officers was positioned near the exit of the bus, and only a few passengers had ever refused to cooperate based on the officers' experience did not convert the encounter into a seizure. Id. at 205. Therefore, the Supreme Court determined the consent provided by Drayton and his accomplice was valid, and suppression of the evidence was not warranted in their cases. Id. at 207-208.

Critically, just like the officers in Drayton, the South Carolina Highway Patrol officers involved in Appellant's case were free to approach the La Cubana bus when it stopped for its scheduled stop, to speak with its driver, and to attempt to obtain consent to conduct a sniff search from him during a consensual encounter. See id. at 200 ("Law enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment's prohibition of unreasonable seizures merely by approaching individuals on the street or in other public places and putting questions to them if they are willing to listen."). In doing so, neither Trooper Rogers nor either of the other officers present at the scene did anything to convey to the driver or the passengers on the bus they were not free to leave, and the officers did not use physical force or a show of authority to restrain anyone on the bus's freedom of movement.<sup>10</sup> See Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 553 ("[A] person is 'seized' only when, by

---

<sup>10</sup> During trial, defense counsel contended the officers seized Appellant and the other passengers on the bus when the driver closed the bus's door approximately two minutes into the encounter. (R. p. 48). Notably though, the officers never instructed the driver to close the door or did anything else to get him to do so. (R. pp. 31-32). Therefore, the driver's act of closing the bus's door could not constitute an unconstitutional seizure on behalf of the officers. See Skinner v. Ry. Labor Executives' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 614 (1989) ("[T]he Fourth Amendment does not apply to a search or seizure, even an arbitrary one, effected by a private party on his own initiative[.]"). However, even if it somehow could be attributed to the officers, the recording from the bus stop appears to depict someone inside of the bus reopening the bus's door at roughly 12:14 a.m., which was only two minutes after the driver closed the door. (State's Ex. # 1).

means of physical force or a show of authority, his freedom of movement is restrained.”). Instead, Trooper Rogers simply approached the driver, politely introduced himself, explained why he was there, and asked for consent to conduct a sniff search, which was granted within roughly three minutes of his initial contact with the driver. See Drayton, 536 U.S. at 201 (“Even when law enforcement officers have no basis for suspecting a particular individual, they may pose questions, ask for identification, and request consent to search luggage – provided they do not induce cooperation by coercive means.”). As a result, the officers did not effectuate a seizure of Appellant or any of the bus’s passengers in obtaining consent for the sniff search, and their actions were substantially less intrusive than the actions of the officers in Drayton that were found to be constitutionally proper.

Thereafter, the officers used a drug-detection dog to conduct a sniff search on the bus, and the dog quickly alerted to the presence of drugs in the luggage compartment of the bus within six minutes of Trooper Rogers initially approaching the driver. At that point, the officers had a probable cause basis to believe drugs were present on the bus and at least one of the passengers on the bus was involved in criminal activity. See State v. Lane, 271 S.C. 68, 72, 245 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1978) (finding the detection of the odor of drugs alone established probable cause to believe criminal activity was afoot and justified

---

Therefore, it is clear the closed door did not convey to the passengers they were not free to do as they pleased under the circumstances. See Drayton, 536 U.S. at 202 (explaining the appropriate inquiry for determining if a seizure occurred on a bus is whether a reasonable innocent person would feel free to decline an officer’s requests or otherwise terminate an encounter). Similarly, defense counsel contended during trial the officers seized Appellant and the other passengers on the bus because none of the passengers exited the bus during the officers’ interactions with the driver. (R. pp. 48-49). However, the fact none of the passengers left the bus at the scheduled stop did not establish the passengers had been seized by the officers, particularly in light of the fact the stop occurred after midnight at a gas station in a city with which many – if not all – of the passengers may have been unfamiliar. See Bostick, 501 U.S. at 435-436 (“[W]hen a person is seated on a bus and has no desire to leave, the degree to which a reasonable person would feel that he or she could leave is not an accurate measure of the coercive effect of the encounter.”); see also Drayton, 536 U.S. at 201-202 (“A passenger may not want to get off a bus if there is a risk it will depart before the opportunity to reboard. A bus rider’s movements are confined in this sense, but this is a natural result of choosing to take the bus; it says nothing about whether the police conduct is coercive.” (citations omitted)).

the issuance of a search warrant); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”); Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 741 (1983) (instructing probable cause is a flexible, common-sense standard). In light of that particularized suspicion of criminal activity, the officers were constitutionally permitted to temporarily detain Appellant and the other passengers on the bus and to conduct a search of the bus along with the luggage being transported inside of it. See Knight v. State, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); State v. Morris, 312 S.C. 116, 117, 439 S.E.2d 291, 292 (Ct. App. 1993) (“[U]nder Terry, an officer may stop an automobile.”); see also Wyoming v. Houghton, 526 U.S. 295, 307 (1999) (“We hold that police officers with probable cause to search a car may inspect passengers’ belongings found in the car that are capable of concealing the object of the search.”); California v. Carney, 471 U.S. 386, 392-393 (1985) (recognizing the automobile exception to the warrant requirement is applicable to any vehicle that is readily mobile, including a motor home); United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 825 (1982) (“If probable cause justifies the search of a lawfully stopped vehicle, it justifies the search of every part of the vehicle and its contents that may conceal the object of the search.”).

Despite the fact they had a probable cause basis to believe at least one of the passengers on the bus was presently involved in criminal activity and was actively transporting drugs, the officers in Appellant’s case nonetheless did **not** take any actions to seize the passengers on the bus following the drug-detection dog’s alert. Instead, Trooper Rogers asked the driver to assist him by having the passengers individually exit

the bus and identify their luggage, and he did so without using force, threats, or a show of authority that would have conveyed to those passengers they were not free to leave. See Bostick, 501 U.S. at 439-440 (“[I]n order to determine whether a particular encounter constitutes a seizure, a court must consider all the circumstances surrounding the encounter to determine whether the police conduct would have communicated to a reasonable person that the person was not free to decline the officers’ request or otherwise terminate the encounter. That rule applies to encounters that take place on a city street or in an airport lobby, and it applies equally to encounters on a bus.”); cf. United States v. Ojeda-Ramos, 455 F.3d 1178, 1183-1184 (10th Cir. 2006) (“[The officer’s] order to leave the bus and claim luggage was not a seizure and would not have been even if he had identified himself as a police officer. He wanted the passengers to comply, but he did not demand, intimidate, threaten or use force against them. However compulsory [the officer’s] order may have appeared, it would not have left an impression upon a reasonable person that he was not ‘free to leave.’ After all, [the officer] required the passengers to leave the bus, not remain on it. The passengers were not only free to leave, they could have ignored [the officer’s] request to claim their luggage. ‘While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response.’ ” (citation and footnotes omitted)). Accordingly, Appellant and the other passengers on the bus were not seized simply because they were asked to exit the bus and identify their luggage.

However, even assuming Trooper Rogers’s request for the passengers to exit the bus effectuated a seizure of Appellant and the others, that seizure was reasonable and warranted in light of the fact the officers had a particularized and objective basis to

believe criminal activity was afoot based on the drug-detection dog's alert on the bus's luggage compartment. See United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (“[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity ‘may be afoot,’ even if the officer lacks probable cause.” (citation omitted)). As a result, the officers were fully justified in asking Appellant and the other passengers to exit the bus while they completed their investigation into the criminal activity revealed by the sniff search, and Trooper Rogers did not thereafter violate Appellant’s constitutional rights by speaking with him and asking him for consent to search his luggage. See Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434-435 (“[E]ven when officers have no basis for suspecting a particular individual, they may generally ask questions of that individual, . . . ask to examine the individual’s identification, . . . and request consent to search his or her luggage, . . . – so long as the police do not convey a message that compliance with their requests is required.” (citations omitted)); cf. Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 414-415 (1997) (“[A]n officer making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop.”). Accordingly, once Appellant voluntarily provided consent for the search, Trooper Rogers was entirely justified in searching Appellant’s luggage, and his search validly resulted in the discovery of Appellant’s hidden heroin. See State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) (identifying several recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement, including the consent exception).

Significantly, the officers in Appellant’s case – despite the fact they had only received an anonymous tip – were not required to simply allow a large quantity of heroin to be transported through South Carolina on a passenger bus entirely unhindered. See Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 145 (1972) (“The Fourth Amendment does not require

a policeman who lacks the precise level of information necessary for probable cause to arrest to simply shrug his shoulders and allow a crime to occur or a criminal to escape.”); see also Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 329 (1990) (recognizing an anonymous tip will seldom be sufficient to establish even reasonable suspicion). Instead, they were constitutionally entitled to investigate the tip by attempting to engage in a consensual encounter, and they engaged in such an encounter at the bus stop in an entirely reasonable manner, which ultimately led to them obtaining a probable cause basis to believe criminal activity was afoot and discovering Appellant’s heroin in his luggage. See State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977) (recognizing only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited). For those reasons, the officers did not violate Appellant’s constitutional rights during the encounter at the bus stop, and the trial judge properly denied Appellant’s suppression motion. See State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013) (“South Carolina appellate courts review Fourth Amendment determinations under a clear error standard. We affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court’s ruling.” (citations omitted)); State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (“When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”).

Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.